

Review

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Hazardous Materials



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jhazmat

Biodegradation aspects of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs): A review

A.K. Haritash*, C.P. Kaushik

Department of Environmental Science & Engineering, Guru Jambheshwar University of Science & Technology, Hisar, Haryana, India

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 7 February 2009 Received in revised form 30 March 2009 Accepted 30 March 2009 Available online 7 April 2009

Keywords: Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) Biodegradation Bacteria Fungi Phytoremediation

ABSTRACT

PAHs are aromatic hydrocarbons with two or more fused benzene rings with natural as well as anthropogenic sources. They are widely distributed environmental contaminants that have detrimental biological effects, toxicity, mutagenecity and carcinogenicity. Due to their ubiquitous occurrence, recalcitrance, bioaccumulation potential and carcinogenic activity, the PAHs have gathered significant environmental concern. Although PAH may undergo adsorption, volatilization, photolysis, and chemical degradation, microbial degradation is the major degradation process. PAH degradation depends on the environmental conditions, number and type of the microorganisms, nature and chemical structure of the chemical compound being degraded. They are biodegraded/biotransformed into less complex metabolites, and through mineralization into inorganic minerals, H₂O, CO₂ (aerobic) or CH₄ (anaerobic) and rate of biodegradation depends on pH, temperature, oxygen, microbial population, degree of acclimation, accessibility of nutrients, chemical structure of the compound, cellular transport properties, and chemical partitioning in growth medium. A number of bacterial species are known to degrade PAHs and most of them are isolated from contaminated soil or sediments. Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Pseudomons fluoresens, Mycobacterium spp., Haemophilus spp., Rhodococcus spp., Paenibacillus spp. are some of the commonly studied PAH-degrading bacteria. Lignolytic fungi too have the property of PAH degradation. Phanerochaete chrysosporium, Bjerkandera adusta, and Pleurotus ostreatus are the common PAH-degrading fungi. Enzymes involved in the degradation of PAHs are oxygenase, dehydrogenase and lignolytic enzymes. Fungal lignolytic enzymes are lignin peroxidase, laccase, and manganese peroxidase. They are extracellular and catalyze radical formation by oxidation to destabilize bonds in a molecule. The biodegradation of PAHs has been observed under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions and the rate can be enhanced by physical/chemical pretreatment of contaminated soil. Addition of biosurfactant-producing bacteria and light oils can increase the bioavailability of PAHs and metabolic potential of the bacterial community. The supplementation of contaminated soils with compost materials can also enhance biodegradation without long-term accumulation of extractable polar and more available intermediates. Wetlands, too, have found an application in PAH removal from wastewater. The intensive biological activities in such an ecosystem lead to a high rate of autotrophic and heterotrophic processes. Aquatic weeds Typha spp. and Scirpus lacustris have been used in horizontal-vertical macrophyte based wetlands to treat PAHs. An integrated approach of physical, chemical, and biological degradation may be adopted to get synergistically enhanced removal rates and to treat/remediate the contaminated sites in an ecologically favorable process.

© 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introd	luction	2			
2.	Microbial degradation					
	2.1.	Bacteria	2			
	2.2.	Fungi	4			
	2.3.	Algae	5			
		-				

^{*} Corresponding author. Present address: Department of Civil & Environmental Engineering, Delhi College of Engineering, University of Delhi, Delhi, India. Tel.: +91 9911710444.

E-mail address: akharitash@gmail.com (A.K. Haritash).

^{0304-3894/\$ -} see front matter © 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.03.137

3.	Enzymes in degradation	6
4.	Oxygen: determining the path	6
5.	Effect of substrate, pretreatment and amendments	7
6.	Inhibition and co-metabolism	9
7.	Kinetics	9
8.	PAHs removal by composting, wetlands and phytoremediation	9
9.	Microbial genetic adaptations	11
10.	Conclusion	12
	References	12

1. Introduction

PAHs are aromatic hydrocarbons with two or more fused benzene rings. They are formed during the thermal decomposition of organic molecules and their subsequent recombination. Incomplete combustion at high temperature (500–800 °C) or subjection of organic material at low temperature (100-300 °C) for long periods result in PAH production. They occur as colorless, white/pale yellow solids with low solubilities in water, high melting and boiling points and low vapour pressure (Table 1). With an increase in molecular weight, their solubility in water decreases; melting and boiling point increase and vapour pressure decreases [1,2]. The chemical structures of some commonly studied PAHs are given in Fig. 1. The common sources of PAHs in environment include natural as well as anthropogenic. Natural sources are forest and rangeland fires, oil seeps, volcanic eruptions and exudates from trees. Anthropogenic sources of PAH include burning of fossil fuel, coal tar, wood, garbage, refuse, used lubricating oil and oil filters [3], municipal solid waste incineration and petroleum spills and discharge. They are ubiquitously present contaminants which are toxic, mutagenic and carcinogenic [4]. PAHs were, perhaps, the first recognized environmental carcinogens. They do not degrade easily under natural conditions. Persistence increases with increase in the molecular weight. They have gathered significant concern because of their presence in all components of environment, resistance towards biodegradation, potential to bio-accumulate and carcinogenic activity. Though they are the chief pollutants of air [5], soil acts as the ultimate depository of these chemicals. Their fate in environment includes volatilization, photo-oxidation, chemical oxidation, adsorption on soil particles, leaching and microbial degradation [6].

The hazards associated with the PAHs can be overcome by the use of conventional methods which involve removal, alteration, or isolation of the pollutant. Such techniques involve excavation of contaminated soil and its incineration or containment. These technologies are expensive, and in many cases transfer the pollutant from one phase to another. On the other hand, bioremediation is the tool to transform the compounds to less hazardous/nonhazardous forms with less input of chemicals, energy, and time [7,8]. Although PAH may undergo adsorption, volatilization, photolysis, and chemical degradation, microbial degradation is the major degradation process [9,10]. Microbes are known for their catabolic activity in bioremediation, but changes in microbial communities are still unpredictable and the microbial community is still termed as a 'black box' [11]. The PAH-degrading microorganism could be algae, bacteria, and fungi. It involves the breakdown of organic compounds through biotransformation into less complex metabolites, and through mineralization into inorganic minerals, H_2O , CO_2 (aerobic) or CH_4 (anaerobic). The bioremediation of a pollutant and its rate depends on the environmental conditions, number and type of the microorganisms, nature and chemical structure of the chemical compound being degraded. Thus, to devise a bioremediation system, a number of factors are to be counted for. Both bacteria and fungi have been extensively studied for their ability to degrade xenobitics including PAHs. The extent and rate of biodegradation depends on many factors including pH, temperature, oxygen, microbial population, degree of acclimation, accessibility of nutrients, chemical structure of the compound, cellular transport properties, and chemical partitioning in growth medium [12].

2. Microbial degradation

2.1. Bacteria

Bacteria are the class of microorganisms actively involved in the degradation of organic pollutants from contaminated sites. A number of bacterial species are known to degrade PAHs. Most of them, representing biodegradation efficiency, are isolated from contaminated soil or sediments. Long-term petrochemical waste discharge harbours bacteria capable of degrading PAH to a considerable extent. Among the PAH in petrochemical waste, Benzo(a)pyrene is considered as the most carcinogenic and toxic. Studies have shown that bacteria can degrade BaP when grown on an alternative carbon source in liquid culture experiments. Ye et al. [13] observed a 5% decrease in BaP concentration after 168 h during incubations with Sphingomonas paucimobilis strain EPA 505. They also observed that resting cells of S. paucimobilis strain EPA 505 grown on nutrient agar supplemented with glucose, result in significant evolution of ${}^{14}CO_2$ (28%) indicating hydroxylation and ring cleavage of the 7,8,9,10-benzo ring. Aitken et al. [14] isolated 11 strains from a variety of contaminated sites (oil, motor oil, wood treatment, and refinery) with the ability to degrade BaP. The organisms were identified as at least three species of Pseudomonas, as well as Agrobacterium, Bacillus, Burkholderia and Sphingomonas species. BaP has been reported to be degraded by other bacteria including Rhodococcus sp., Mycobacterium, and mixed culture of Pseudomonas and Flavobacterium species [15–17]. Heitkamp et al. [18] described a bacterial isolate which was able to mineralize pyrene. Romero et al. [19] isolated Pseudomonas aeruginosa from a stream heavily polluted by a petroleum refinery. The species was found to be actively growing over high dosages of phenanthrene with complete removal of the pollutant in a period of 30 days. Rehmann et al. [20] isolated a Mycobacterium spp., strain KR2 from a PAH contaminated soil of a gaswork plant, which was able to utilize pyrene as sole source of carbon and energy. The isolate metabolized up to 60% of the pyrene added (0.5 mg ml^{-1}) within 8 days at 20 °C. Cis-4,5-pyrene dihydrodiol, 4-5-phenanthrene dicarboxylic acid, 1hydroxy-2-naphthoic acid, 2-carboxybenzaldehyde, phthalic acid, and protocatechuic acid were identified as degradation products and a degradation pathway for pyrene was also suggested (Fig. 2). Yuan et al. [21] isolated six gram negative strains of bacteria from a petrochemical waste disposing site having the capacity of degrading acenaphthene, fluorene, phenanthrene, anthracene, and pyrene by 70-100% in a period of 40 days of initial treatment. Two of the six strains isolated were Pseudomons fluoresens and Haemophilus spp., the rod-shaped bacteria. Dean-Ross et al. [22] isolated two bacterial strains (Mycobacterium flavescens and Rhodococcus spp.) from sediments of River Grand Calumet from two

Physical-chemical properties of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs).

S. No.	Name	M.F.	CAS registry No. ^a	B.Pt. (°C) ^a	M.Pt. (°C) ^a	V.P. (Pa at 25 °C)	Aqueous solubility (mg/l) ^b	IARC ^c group
1	Benzo[k]fluoranthene	C ₂₀ H ₁₂	207-08-9	480	215.7	$5.2 imes 10^{-8}$	-	2B
2	Anthracene	C ₁₄ H ₁₀	120-12-7	342	216.4	1×10^{-3}	0.015	3
3	Benzo[b]fluoranthene	$C_{20}H_{12}$	205-99-2	481	168.3	$6.7 imes 10^{-5}$	-	2B
4	Benzo(e)pyrene	$C_{20}H_{12}$	192-97-2	493	178.7	$4 imes 10^{-7}$	-	3
5	Fluoranthene	C ₁₆ H ₁₀	206-44-0	375	108.8	$1.2 imes 10^{-3}$	0.25	3
6	Naphthalene	C ₁₀ H ₈	91-20-3	218	80.2	11	30	n.e.
7	Phenanthrene	C14H10	85-01-8	340	100.5	$2 imes 10^{-2}$	1-2	3
8	Benzo[ghi]perylene	C22H12	191-24-2	500	277	$6 imes 10^{-8}$	-	3
9	Pyrene	C ₁₆ H ₁₀	129-00-0	150.4	393	$\textbf{6.0}\times10^{-4}$	0.12-0.18	3

^a [156].

^c [4].

different locations. Both the bacteria were found to be capable of PAH degradation with the initial reaction rates of 0.044 mg l⁻¹ for the K_s for pyrene mineralization by *M. flavescens* and 0.470 μ g l⁻¹ for the K_s for anthracene mineralization by *Rhodococcus species*. The study also proposed the degradation pathway of fluoranthene. In both strains, metabolism of fluoranthene occurred on the fused ring of fluoranthene molecule, producing 9-fluorenone-1-carboxylic acid.

There has been growing concern over the mounting concentration of PAHs in marine environment. Mangrove sediments, important estuarine wetlands are closely tied to human activities and are subjected to PAH contamination. Bacteria isolated from the mangrove sediments are known to degrade phenanthrene from 42% to 78% with different degradation potential depending upon the different sediments [23]. Romero et al. [19] studied phenanthrene degradation by microorganisms isolated from a contaminated



Fig. 1. Chemical structures of some commonly studied PAHs.

^b [157].



Fig. 2. Proposed degradation of Pyrene by Mycobacterium sp. Strain KR2 [20].

stream. *Rhodotorula glutinis* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* were the prevailing microorganisms utilizing phenanthrene. Cells of these microorganisms were inoculated in liquid mineral basal medium and almost complete phenanthrene transformation was observed in the experiment during the 1-month incubation period, for both microorganisms. It was seen that *R. glutinis* was as active as *P. aeruginosa* at growing on phenanthrene; the aromatic hydrocarbon degradation correlated directly to microbial density and biomass increase [19]. A study carried out for decontamination of soil polluted with PAHs by means of mixed microbial culture of the bacteria from the genera *Acenitobacter* and *Klebsiella* showed that within 6 months a significant reduction of 98% of the total PAH content took place. The concentration of the PAHs with three and four rings decreased to 0.5% of the original content in the soil. The concentration of most five to seven ring PAHs with carcinogenic properties

decreased to 3% of the original value. Daane et al. [24] isolated and characterized PAH-degrading bacteria associated with the rhizosphere of salt marsh plants. They categorized the isolated bacteria into three main bacterial groups-gram-negative pseudomonas; gram-positive, non-spore forming nocardioforms; and the grampositive, spore-forming group, Paenibacillus. They observed that phenanthrene-enriched isolates are able to utilize a greater number of PAHs than are the naphthalene-enriched isolates. Later, they established that bacteria belonging to genus Paenibacillus, isolated from the petroleum-contaminated sediment and salt marsh rhizosphere can use naphthalene or phenanthrene as sole carbon source and can degrade the PAHs [25]. Verrhiest et al. [26] studied interaction between a PAH mixture and microbial communities in natural freshwater sediment. They observed that benzo(k)fluoranthene concentration in the sediment was stable for over 28 days, whereas phenanthrene and fluoranthene remained from 3% to 6%. The study showed that (a) PAH induce perturbations in the microbial communities in terms of density and metabolism, (b) indigenous bacteria might be use for toxicity assessment, and (c) native microorganisms of sediments seem to have a high capacity of PAH degradation, depending on the physicochemical properties and the availability of substances present.

2.2. Fungi

Several fungi are known to have the property of degradation of persistent pollutants. Cutright studied the kinetics involved in PAH degradation by the fungi Cunninghamella echinulata var. elegans and suggested that for a first order reaction-system the rate of change in contaminant concentration is proportional to the concentration of contaminant in soil and the time prediction tool in degradation is dependent on the microorganisms, the contaminant type and its concentration [27]. The microbial degradation by lignolytic fungi has been intensively studied during the past few years [28] and due to the irregular structure of lignin, lignolytic fungi produce extracellular enzymes with very low substrate specificity, making them suitable for degradation of different compounds. The lignolytic system consists of three main enzyme groups with lignin peroxidase, manganese dependent peroxidase, phenoloxidases (lacases, tyrosinases), and H₂O₂-producing enzymes. Experiments with purified enzymes proved that lignolytic enzymes are able to degrade PAHs [29]. It has been observed that lignolytic enzymes perform a one electron radical oxidation, producing cation radicals from contaminants followed by appearance of quinines [30]. A study by Clemente et al. [31] investigated degradation of PAH by thirteen deuteromycete ligninolytic fungal strains and found that the degree of dedradation varies with a variation of lignolytic enzymes. Maximum degradation of naphthalene (69%) was observed by the strain 984 having Mn-peroxidase activity, followed by strain 870 (17%) showing lignin peroxidase and laccase activities. Phenanthrene degradation of 12% was observed with strain 870 with Mn-peroxidase and laccase activities. A good level of degradation of anthracene (65%) was observed by the strain 710. Recently, soil fungi have been studied regarding their ability to degrade Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) and produce ligninolytic enzymes under microaerobic and verylow-oxygen conditions [32]. Low-molecular-weight PAHs (2-3 rings) were found to be degraded most extensively by Aspergillus sp., Trichocladium canadense, and Fusarium oxysporum. For highmolecular-weight PAHs (4-7 rings), maximum degradation has been observed by T. canadense, Aspergillus sp., Verticillium sp., and Achremonium sp. Such studies have found that fungi have a great capability to degrade a broad range of PAHs under low-oxygen conditions.

The monooxygenase system of cytochrom P-450 generating epoxides may also be involved in degradation. The epoxides can be



Fig. 3. Fungal degradation pathway of Phenanthrene using Irpex lacteus [33].

rearranged into hydroxyl derivatives or they may be hydrolyzed to vicinal dihydrodiols. Cajthaml et al. [33] studied fungal degradation products of PAHs by lignolytic fungus *Irpex lacteus* and found that the major degradation products of anthracene and phenanthrene were anthraquinone and phenanthrene-9,10-dihydrodiol, respectively (Fig. 3). The study also proposed the pathway for degradation of anthracene and phenanthrene [33].

White-rot fungi (WRF) can degrade a wide range of organopollutants and the degradative activity is because of the lignin-degrading systems of these fungi. Boyle et al. [34] found that white-rot fungi growing in soil did not degrade significant amounts of PAHs. However, in liquid culture they degraded many PAHs. The effect of nutrient nitrogen was also assessed because nitrogen sources are frequently added during bioremediation, but nitrogen can inhibit the lignin-degrading system of WRF [35]. Addition of soil, sawdust, or ground alfalfa inhibited formation of the polar metabolites, but had little effect on mineralization. Degradation of Benzo(a)pyrene by WRF in liquid medium was faster by fungi that had been exposed to PAHs, suggesting that the degaradative system was inducible. Degradation in soil was increased by some surfactants, these increasing the B(a)P concentration in the soil moisture. The responsible factors for increased degradation could be increased accessibility of B(a)P to degaradative system or induction of WRF degaradative system [34]. Among hundreds of WRF displaying lignolytic activity, Phanerochaete chrysosporium, Bjerkandera adusta, and Pleurotus ostreatus have been extensively studied. Intermediate compounds as guinones, hydroxyl- and dihydroxy-PAH have been isolated in degradation experiments, but it is not clear whether they accumulate as dead-end products. Accumulation of PAH-quinones was reported in liquid cultures of P. chrysosporium and B. adusta [36,37] and in soil by P. ostreatus [38]. Eggen and Majcherczyk concluded that in aged soil contaminated with creosote, P. ostreatus removed Benzo(a)pyrene most extensively in first month [39]. The most abundant fungi in polluted environments are yeasts [40,41] and they can oxidize PAH with alternative carbon sources. The rate of degradation of phenanthrene by *Rhodotorula glutinis*, yeast isolated from contaminated stream was found to be almost equal to the degradation by bacteria *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* [19].

2.3. Algae

Degradation of PAHs requires a consortium of microorganisms and algae is no exception. Prokaryotic and eukaryotic photoautotrophic marine algae (i.e. cyanobacteria, green algae, and diatoms) are known to metabolize naphthalene to a series of metabolites [42-44], though there are indications that cishydroxylation of naphthalene by cyanobacteria, Oscillatoria and Agmenellum spp. involve pathways similar to fungus [42–46]. BaP is known to be transformed to diols, and guinones by marine algae in a period of 5-6 days. Warshawsky et al. found that Selenastrum capricornutum, a freshwater green alga metabolizes BaP to cis-dihydrodiols using a dioxygenase enzyme system as found in heterotrophic prokaryotes. It was observed that S. capricornutum produced 11,12-dihydrodiol under gold light and 9,10-dihydrodiol under white light. With increasing light energy from gold to white to UV-A in PAH-absorbing region, BaP quinone production increased. The study also concluded that only green algae almost completely metabolized BaP to dihydrodiols, whereas yellow algae and blue green algae failed in metabolizing the PAH. Higher doses of PAHs prove phytotoxic to algae [47,48]. Certain algae have been reported to enhance the removal fluoranthene and pyrene when present with bacteria. Borde et al. [49] first reported case of photosynthesis-enhanced biodegradation of toxic aromatic pollutants by algal-bacterial microcosms in a one-stage treatment. The potential of algal-bacterial microcosms for the biodegradation of salicylate, phenol and phenanthrene was studied. Pseudomonas migulae and Sphingomonas yanoikuyae were studied for phenanthrene degradation. The green alga Chlorella sorokiniana was cultivated in the presence of the pollutants at different concentrations, showing increasing inhibitory effects in the order salicylate < phenol < phenonthrene. A substantial removal (>85%) was recorded only in the systems inoculated with both algae and bacteria and incubated under continuous lighting. Such studies have demonstrated synergistic relationships in the algal-bacterial microcosms. Recently different microalgal species have been reported to degrade fluoranthene and pyrene [50]. The study of fluoranthene, pyrene, and a mixture of fluoranthene and pyrene by Chlorella vulgaris, Scenedesmus platydiscus, Scenedesmus quadricauda, and Selenastrum capricornutum has shown that removal is algal species-specific and toxicant-dependent. PAHs removal in 7 days of treatment was 78% and 48%, respectively by S. capricornutum and C. vulgaris. The removal efficiency of fluoranthene and pyrene in a mixture higher than the respective single compound, suggesting that the presence of one PAH stimulated the removal of the other PAH. A heterotrophic green microalgal strain Prototheca zopfii immobilized in polyurethane foam has also been reported to help accumulation of mixture of PAHs in the matix [51], whereas the free living cells of the alga can reduce PAHs and n-alkanes [52]. Hong et al. [53] studied the accumulation and biodegradation of phenanthrene and fluoranthene by the algae enriched from a mangrove aquatic ecosystem. The isolated microalgal species S. costatum and Nitzschia sp. were capable of accumulating and degrading the two typical PAHs simultaneously. The accumulation and degradation abilities of Nitzschia sp. were higher than those of S. costatum. Degradation of fluoranthene by the two algal species was slower, indicating its recalcitrance. The microalgal species also showed comparable or higher efficiency in the removal of the mixture than phenanthrene or fluoranthene singly, suggesting that the presence of one PAH stimulated the degradation of the other. The studies and results obtained show that alga is suitable for PAH bioremediation and it acts co-metabolically with bacteria.

3. Enzymes in degradation

Enzymes involved in the degradation of PAHs are oxygenase, dehydrogenase and lignolytic enzymes. Fungal lignolytic enzymes are lignin peroxidase, laccase, and manganese peroxidase. They are extracellular and catalyze radical formation by oxidation to destabilize bonds in a molecule [54,55]. Laccase and Mn-dependent peroxidase are present abundantly in spent mushroom compost (SMC), whereas the production of ligninase is reported to be low and addition of SMC enhances the rate of PAH-degradation. Bogan and Lamar found that the disappearance of PAHs showed a strong correlation with the ionization potentials (IPs) [56]. The IP values, referring to the energy required to remove an electron and to form a cation radical are 8.12 for naphthalene, 8.03 for phenanthrene, 7.21 for benzo(a)pyrene, and 7.31 for benzo(g,h,i)perylene [57]. A one-electron oxidation of PAHs can take place by peroxidases (IP \leq 7.35 eV), laccase (IP \leq 7.45 eV), Mndependent peroxidase (IP \leq 8.19 eV), and ligninase (IP \leq 7.55 eV) [57,58]. These enzymes are active at different temperatures. Most of the enzymes have optimum activity at mesophilic temperatures and it decreases with very high and low temperatures. Some of the enzymes are reported to be active even at extremes of temperatures. Only laccase activity is detected at 5 °C. The optimum temperature is 45 °C for laccase, but its activity drops to 30% at 5°C while 31% activity is found at 75°C. On the other hand, the activity of Mn-dependent peroxidase is high even at 75 °C. Farnet et al. [59] reported that the activity of laccase of fungus Marasmius quercophilus is optimal at 80 °C. Enzymes also show substrate specificity but lignolytic enzymes are non-specific acting on phenolic and non-phenolic organic compounds via the generation of cation radicals after one electron oxidation [60,61]. Pleurotus laccase produces hydroxyl radicals [62] while Mn-dependent peroxidase of fungus Nematoloma forwardii degrades a broad spectrum of PAHs and aliphatic substances directly to carbon-di-oxide and polar fission products [29]. A generalized degradation pathway of PAHs has been proposed in different studies. A phthalic derivative is produced as one of the ring fission products of PAHs by white rot fungi and bacteria [58,63]. The derivatization of phthalate results into carbon-di-oxide or highly polar metabolites and the lignolytic enzymes and ozonation/photocatalytic oxidation act by free radical attack on the organopollutants [64]. Thus, the intermediates of these three methods are ring opening phthalic derivatives and aliphatics such as pentadecane, hexadecane, and nonadecane [61.64].

A higher dose of PAHs in the substrate may also affect the activity/rate of microbial degradation. Verrhiest et al. [26] while studying the interaction between a PAH mixture and microbial communities in natural freshwater sediment established that PAH dose has no effect on the microbial community in sediments up to a range of 30 mg PAH/kg. The PAHs had an effect at higher concentration owing to partial inhibition of the leucine-aminopeptidase activity. The b-glucosidase activity was stimulated by the organic pollutants at the same concentration. Schutzendubel et al. [65] found that during only 3 days of incubation, Bjerkandera adusta removed 56% and 38% of Fluorene and anthracene, while Pleurotus ostreatus degraded 43% and 60% of these compounds; other PAH were degraded to a lower extent. Except for anthracene in cultures of P. ostreatus, all PAH were removed uniformly during the cultivation time but Fluorene and anthracene were degraded faster than other PAH. The fungi produced valuable activity of manganesedependent peroxidase but laccase was secreted only by P. ostreatus and was strongly induced by the addition of milled wood. The production of the oxidative enzymes did not correlate directly to the metabolism of PAH. Both fungi showed a very low activity of LiP during the whole incubation period; the enzyme was not induced by milled wood. *P. ostreatus* in the BSM (basic medium) medium showed activity of MnP only at the end of cultivation. The addition of wood inhibited production of the enzyme in younger cultures and increased the activity after 27 days. Laccase activity was detected only in cultures of *P. ostreatus*. The first maximum of activity was reached after 22 days in BSM cultures and BSMW (basic medium with milled wood) cultures, respectively. In cultures of both fungi, only a very low and no significant cresolase activity of the tyrosinase could be detected. In the case of P. ostreatus, the highest level of anthracene elimination was observed in 12-dayold cultures (62%). A second maximum in removal of anthracene was detected after 39 days (18%). Fluorene was degraded to a high degree in a 7-day-old culture (42%) and was practically uniformly removed over the whole cultivation time. Other PAHs were degraded at an almost constant rate during the 48 days of cultivation $(1 \pm 12\%)$. Cultures supplemented with milled wood showed much lower degradation values: only anthracene (max 23% after 17 days), fluorene ($19 \pm 30\%$) and partially phenanthrene ($0 \pm 8\%$) were degraded.

A limitation of essential co-substrates for the monitored enzymes could be a factor confounding a clear correlation between the degradation of PAH and the secretion of oxidative enzymes. Similar to the role of H_2O_2 and manganese availability, co-substrates for the mediated oxidation by laccase could be essential in observing a clear correlation of PAH degradation and enzyme activity [66,67]. In the growth phase of fungi and in the absence of necessary extracellular enzymes and/or co-substrates, the degradation of PAH could take place preferentially by aromatic compound uptake. High oxidative potential generated by extracellular enzymes in later stages can enhance PAH degradation or displace the previous mechanism.

4. Oxygen: determining the path

The biodegradation of PAHs has been observed under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions. The microbial communities in contaminated sediments and soils exist under anaerobic conditions and biotransformation of pollutants is observed under such conditions. The anaerobic biodegradation of PAHs is a slow process, and its biochemical mechanism has not yet been elucidated [68,69]. These pathways initiate the biodegradation of PAHs by introducing both atoms of molecular oxygen into the aromatic nucleus, the reaction being catalyzed by a multicomponent dioxygenase which consists of a reductase, a ferredoxin and an iron-sulfur protein [70]. Studies have shown that two- and three-ring PAHs can be degraded anaerobically [69,71,72], but there is lack of evidences if it is true for PAHs with more than three rings. PAHs are known to dissipate under nitrate- and sulfate-reducing conditions. A study by Ambrosoli et al. [73] reported anaerobic PAH degradation in soil by a mixed bacterial consortium under denitrifying conditions and concluded that anaerobic biodegradation of fluorene, phenanthrene and pyrene, seems to be possible both through fermentative and respiratory metabolism, provided that low molecular weight co-metabolites and suitable electron acceptors (nitrate) are present.

Recently, novel anaerobic biotransformation pathways of fluorene and phenanthrene by sulfate-reducing bacteria (SRB) have been proposed (Fig. 4) [74]. The SRB was enriched from anaerobic swine wastewater sludge and it could biotransform 88% of fluorene and 65% of phenanthrene in a 21 days period of incubation. It was observed that sulfate reduction was coupled with biotransformation of fluorene and phenanthrene. Fluorene and phenanthrene were biotransformed through a sequence of hydration and hydrolysis reactions followed by decarboxylation with the formation of *p*-cresol (only in the phenanthrene system) and



Fig. 4. Proposed anaerobic biotransformation pathway of phenanthrene by sulfate-reducing bacteria [74].

phenol. PAH degradation has also been observed in sediments derived from freshwater aquifers coupled to Fe (III) reduction [75]. There have been several studies on anaerobic degradation of naphthalene as compared to other PAHs. The rate and extent of PAH degradation is correlated with the number of benzene rings and the presence/absence of side chains [76]. Though the anaerobic degradation is comparatively a slower process and is limited by several other factors, it has the advantage of being adopted in natural environments and cannot be overlooked. The sulfatereducing bacteria were found to be involved in degradation of phenanthrene under anaerobic conditions [77]. Later, it was added that sulfate reducing bacteria constitute a major microbial component in two-to four-ring PAH degradation, but the methanogen and vanomycin microbial populations are also involved [78]. The addition of microbial inhibitors like bromoethanesulfonic acid (BESA) (a selective methanogen inhibitor), molybdate (a selective sulfate-reducing bacteria inhibitor), or vanomycin (a selective eubacteria inhibitor) delayed PAH degradation. However, it was inhibited by the addition of humic acid, di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP), nonylphenol, or heavy metals. Another study reported that the anaerobic degradation of PAH was enhanced by the addition of acetate, lactate, pyruvate, sodium chloride, cellulose, or zerovalent iron [79]. The biodegradation process of hydrocarbons, under anaerobic and reducing conditions, can be hypothesized into three major steps. Initially high concentration of aromatic hydrocarbons is partly degraded under nitrate and sulfate-reducing conditions to form low molecular weight organic acids as metabolic intermediates. Organic acids act as ligands complexing insoluble Fe (III) oxides in the aquifer and mobilizing Fe (III). Finally, the mobilized Fe (III) is available for iron reducing bacteria and intensifies the degradation of aromatic hydrocarbons [80].

Microbial community in the contaminated sediments appears to be adapted for PAH oxidation in situ as ¹⁴C-labelled PAH was oxidized to ¹⁴CO₂ without a lag. In contrast, there is little, if any anaerobic, PAH oxidation in sediments without prior hydrocarbon contamination. Sediments not polluted with high levels of hydrocarbons can readily be adapted for rapid anaerobic PAH oxidation once they are exposed to PAH. The emergence of the capacity for anaerobic PAH oxidation is accompanied by an increase in anaerobic PAH degraders. This suggests that the appropriate PAHdegrading microorganisms are present, albeit in low numbers, even in sediments that are only exposed to low PAH inputs. If PAH concentrations increase, these organisms can respond with an increase in their activity. Thus, it seems likely that most harbor sediments will develop the capacity for anaerobic PAH degradation when high levels of PAHs are introduced into the sediments as the result of petroleum contamination. Therefore, if the introduction of the PAHs can be subsequently reduced, the sediments may be capable of significant self-purification, even under anaerobic conditions [81].

Pure cultures of several anaerobic nitrate-reducing [82,83] and sulfate-reducing [84] bacteria, capable of degrading PAHs, have been identified. Most of the bacteria are from the genus *Pseudomonas*. The *Pseudomonas* genus comprises many aerobic naphthalene-degrading bacteria and accounts for 86.9% of the hydrocarbon-degrading microorganisms found in gasoline contaminated aquifers [85]. Phylogenetic analysis of the PAH-degrading sulfur-reducing bacteria revealed that the organism belonged to the *Desulfobacterium* genus closely related (96.9% sequence identity) to the strain mXyS 1 which has the ability to grow by anaerobic m-xylene degradation [86].

From all the studies carried out to date with different aromatic compounds, such as phenols, cresols, anilines, benzoates, toluene, benzene, xylenes, nitroaromatic and chlorinated compounds, and many others, it can be concluded that anaerobic bacteria follow a strategy that is similar to that of aerobic bacteria [87]. First, the diverse aromatic compounds are transformed into a few central intermediates. Subsequently, the aromatic ring is activated and cleaved, and the resulting non-cyclic compounds are converted into central metabolites. Under anaerobic conditions, the major intermediates are benzoate (or benzoyl-CoA) and, to a lesser extent, resorcinol and phloroglucinol [87,88]. Reactions involved in the channelling processes that lead to the central intermediates include carboxylations, decarboxylations, hydroxylations, reductions, reductive dehydroxylations, deaminations, dechtorinations, aryl ether cleavages, and lyase reactions. The aromatic central intermediates are reductively attacked, as proposed by Evans in 1977 [89], and cleaved by hydrolysis. The resulting non-cyclic products are transformed by p-oxidation to central metabolites.

5. Effect of substrate, pretreatment and amendments

The organic pollutants which are in prolonged contact of the soil are bound to the soil particles and show reduced bioavailability

towards biodegradation. The phenomenon is known as sequestration. The phenomenon of contaminant sequestration has recently been a topic of discussion due to the anticipated impact of this process. Since the particles are inaccessible to the solution phase and are partially immobilized, they pose less risk/threat to the environment and human health and their remediation carries unnecessary economic burden with minimal health and safety benefits [90]. Several mechanisms have been proposed to describe sequestration of contaminants into/onto organic matter. Different studies [91,92] explain that the interaction of the contaminant molecule and soil particle begins with the partitioning of the molecule into/onto humic acid or fulvic acid polymer layers present at the surface of soil particle. Later, the molecule diffuses into the threedimensional micropores of the particles which are present in the humin core of the particle and partially inaccessible to the solution phase by the overlying layer of polymeric humic acid and fulvic acid [93]. The outer layer of the core is lipophilic and, therefore, binds the organic pollutant strongly rendering it recalcitrant [94]. Later it was concluded that organic matter content is not the only factor responsible for sequestration. Cation exchange capacity (CEC), micropore volume, soil texture, and surface area, too, play a role in it [95]. Studies have also been reported in contradiction to the earlier model of sequestration. White et al. found that extraction of soluble organic matter (humic acid and fulvic acid), leaving humin, increased the extent of PAH sequestration [96]. A study by Bogan and Sullivan, demonstrated that addition of fulvic acid or a material rich in fulvic acid can result in higher rate of contaminant degradation [90]. It concluded that the sequestration of contaminant molecule is primarily because of the humin fraction. The members of genus Mycobacterium are widely used in bioremediation of aged contaminated sites. It has been established that mycobacteria have exceptionally lipophilic surfaces which makes them suitable organisms for the uptake of bound pollutants from the soil particles. They are also known to have good catabolic efficiency towards PAHs up to five benzene rings [97 - 99]

The biological degradation/extraction of a pollutant can be enhanced by physical/chemical pretreatment of contaminated soil. The slow rate of degradation in soil is primarily due to the slow rate of desorption of contaminants from soil particles and not due to the slow rate of degradation by the microorganisms. The reasons for slow desorption are slow diffusion of contaminants through the pore liquid and through the soil organic matter. In order to increase the rate of diffusion, the soil is subjected to thermal or chemical treatment prior to the microbial remediation. An increase in temperature can decrease the soil-water partition coefficient and as a result, dissolution of contaminants in water is observed. The partition-coefficient of PAHs decreases by 20-30% for every 10° rise in temperature between 5 and 45 °C [100,101]. Apart from it, the mass transfer within the soil increases with increase in temperature. The mass transfer depends on the effective diffusion coefficient, which is proportional to the diffusion coefficient and inversely proportional to the partition coefficient [102,103]. The diffusion coefficient of water increases by 4-5 times with an increase in temperature from 20 to 120°C and results in about 150 times increase in the effective diffusion coefficient. Bonten et al. [104] studied the effects of short-term heating on subsequent biodegradation of PAHs. Heating at 120°C for 1 h increased the degree of degradation after 21 days of an aged PAH contamination from 9.5% to 27%. Lower temperatures resulted in smaller increases. Chemical pretreatment for organic soil contaminants is addition of an organic solvent which increases the rate of mass transfer of hydrophobic compounds in soil. Such an increase in the rate of mass transfer may lead to redistribution of contaminants from sites exhibiting slow desorption rate to those exhibiting a fast one. The most prominent effect of soaking with an organic solvent is a change in partition

coefficient. The soil–solvent partition coefficient decreases exponentially with an increase in acetone concentration [105,106]. A 4:1 acetone–water mixture can desorb more than 95% of all the PAHs present within an hour [107]. Bonten et al. [104] studied that soaking of the contaminated sludge in 4:1 (v/v) acetone–water mixture increased the degree of degradation from 9.5% to 20.4% as a result of dissolution of PAHs. Another chemical technique is the oxidation with ozone or hydrogen peroxide in combination with UV-radiation. Usual chemical methods involve a heavy input of chemicals and formation of harmful residues, whereas UV-ozone treatment produces no significant toxic products and it can destroy more than 90% of PAHs [108].

Introduction of a group of natural microbial strains or a genetically engineered variant to treat contaminated soil is termed 'bioaugmentation' and it can enhance the rate of degradation. Addition of biosurfactant-producing microbes can enhance the bioavailability of PAHs. Addition of biosurfactant-producing bacteria (i.e. Pseudomonas aeruginosa) and addition of light oils can increase the bioavailability of PAHs and metabolic potential of the bacterial community. Addition of oils includes the inorganic nutrients and bacterial strains capable of degrading PAHs cometabolically (i.e. Sphingomonas paucimobilis) [109]. Surfactant compounds produced by Pseudomonas aeruginosa can increase the concentration of PAHs in the aqueous phase of the system. Increases in aqueous concentrations are generally in direct proportion to the amount of surfactant present. Inclusion of Pseudomonas aeruginosa surfactant in the land farm operation can increase the accessibility of PAHs to soil bacteria [110].

Addition of a carbon source as a nutrient in contaminated soil is known to enhance the rate of pollutant degradation by stimulating the growth of microorganisms responsible, termed as 'biostimulation'. It has been suggested that the addition of carbon in the form of pyruvate stimulates the microbial growth and enhances the rate of PAH degradation [111]. It did not show diauxic growth and accelerated the adaptation of *P. putida* G7 to naphthalene and enhanced the rate of in situ bioremediation. Mushroom compost and spent mushroom compost (SMC) are also applied in treating organopollutant contaminated sites [112,113]. Addition of SMC results in enhanced PAH-degrading efficiency (82%) as compared to the removal by sorption on immobilized SMC (46%). It is observed that the addition of SMC to the contaminated medium reduced the toxicity, added enzymes, microorganisms, and nutrients for the microorganisms involved in degradation of PAHs [114]. In a study by Guerin [115], polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons contaminated soil from a creosoting plant was remediated using an ex situ land treatment process. The process involved soil mixing, aeration, and fertilizer addition. The indigenous PAH utilizing microorganisms were shown to increase during the treatment process, indicating that biostimulation was effective. The most extensive degradation was apparent with the 2- and 3-ring PAH, with decreases of 97% and 82%, respectively. The higher molecular weight 3- and 4-ring PAHs were degraded at slower rates, with reductions of 45% and 51%, respectively. Six-ring PAHs were degraded the least with average reductions of 35%.

Laboratory experiments have shown that the rate of biodegradation is more in liquid medium under constant steering than in soil/medium with soil added in it. The difference is due to the tendency of PAH particles to adsorb on soil particles and this renders reduced availability to microorganisms [21]. It has been observed that soils amended with municipal and petroleum sludge have higher rate of PAH degradation than the rate in soil alone. Since, the sludge is rich in number of microorganisms and level of different nutrients, they favour vigorous growth of microbes and enhanced biodegradation rates. The decrease in nitrate, sulfate, and phosphate content in the medium accounted for the consumption as nutrients during biodegradation. Biodegradation of phenanthrene is also affected by the salinity of degradation medium. Bacteria isolated from mangrove sediments can degrade phenanthrene [23] and it was observed that bacterial growth is directly proportional to the phenanthrene concentration. But, the rate of degradation of PAH was low in the medium with high salinity and it was more in medium with less salinity. The inhibition due to salinity was more when bacteria were present individually and the effect was reduced when mixed culture of all the bacteria was used. It was also reported that the addition of glucose, as a carbon source, reduced the inhibition by salinity.

6. Inhibition and co-metabolism

Most of the studies have concentrated on specific biodegradation rates with single substrate system under aerobic conditions. Since PAHs are present in mixtures, the effect of substrate interaction in biodegradation is important in understanding the fate of PAHs. Some studies have presented the evidence that substrate interaction affect the biodegradation of PAHs by pure and mixed cultures. Sometimes, high molecular weight PAHs after low molecular weight PAHs have been utilized/degraded [109], while high concentration of naphthalene may have inhibited degradation of other PAHs due to toxicity [116]. Stringfellow and Aitken found competitive inhibition of phenanthrene degradation by naphthalene, methylnaphthalene, and fluorene in binary mixtures using two pure cultures [117]. They concluded that the occurrence of competitive inhibition observed with two different pseudomonas species might be common among PAH-degrading organisms. The presence of phenanthrene is reported to inhibit degradation of pyrene [118]. In studies with pure denitrifying isolates, the presence of naphthalene enhanced both phenanthrene and pyrene degradation, whereas phenanthrene apparently inhibited pyrene degradation, though the observations were not confirmed with metabolite analysis. Bacterial degradation of anthracene by Rhodococcus spp. and pyrene degradation by *M. flavescens* has also been reported to be inhibited by the presence of fluoranthene in the medium [22]. Sometimes specific strains of microorganisms may also cause inhibition. The effect of surfactant-like compounds, produced by the microorganisms, when growing on aromatic hydrocarbons, solubilizes the PAH and leads to an increase in concentration in the medium. It could also, at times, cause inhibition of the degradation process [119,120]. Some of the studies have reported no effect of substrate on degradation. Tsai et al. [74] reported that fluorene and phenanthrene can be degraded by sulfate-reducing bacteria without any inhibition. The degradation rates of fluorene and phenanthrene in the single compound systems were 0.136 and 0.09 d⁻¹, respectively. When both fluorene and phenanthrene were spiked into the system, the k_1 of fluorene and phenanthrene were reduced to 0.098 and 0.072 d⁻¹, respectively. The rate of fluorene and phenanthrene degradation was higher in the single compound system compared to the mixed one. The reason for the inhibition of microbial activity was attributed to high concentration of total PAHs. However, other studies have reported even the stimulation of degradation of PAHs when present in mixtures. The biodegradation of PAHs in varying mixture combinations by pure culture of Pseudomonas putida strain KBM-1 under aerobic conditions showed that the presence of naphthalene (2-ringed PAH) stimulated phenanthrene (3-ringed PAH) degradation 5-fold and pyrene (4-ringed PAH) degradation 2-fold. Findings which report co-metabolism have also been made. Yuan et al. [21] reported that the degradation efficiency of microorganisms is more vigorous when acenaphthene, fluorene, phenanthrene, anthracene, and pyrene are present simultaneously compared to the rate of degradation when the PAHs are present individually because the presence of all five compounds provides more carbon

source, or cross acclimation may enhance the rate of biodegradation.

7. Kinetics

The properties of soil determine the activity of its microflora which is responsible for the degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs). Moreover, soil properties influence the strength of the interactions between the PAHs and individual soil components. The introduction of sewage sludge into the soil changes these properties which, in turn, changes environmental conditions [121]. The range and rate of changes in the content of individual PAHs determined on the basis of the half-lives exhibited that they depend on the properties of sewage sludge and sewage sludge dose. Apart from direct microbiological degradation, losses resulting from leaching and volatilization, part of PAHs can be converted to bound residues [122], and some part may have been sequestered into inaccessible microsites in the soil-sewage sludge matrix through aging [95]. Though a lot of work has been done on bioremediation of contaminated soils and the dissipation of PAHs from them, the study of kinetics involved during the process is still in infancy. Cutright [27] undertook a study to determine the specific degradation rates for the bioremediation of PAH-contaminated soils. The kinetics associated with the fungi Cunninghamella echinulata in conjunction with different nutrient supplements was investigated. It was observed that for a first order kinetics system, the rate of change in contaminant was proportional to its concentration in soil. The prediction of time for bioremediation of contaminated soil is dependent on the microorganisms, contaminant type and its concentration. Further, the development of more accurate kinetic model requires the monitoring of biomass, respiration studies, and study of interactions of different organisms between them. Though bioremediation has high rate of success, but the kinetics is still not fully understood and the kinetics become more complicated when fungi are used for bioremediation. As explained in earlier section, the different enzymes involved in fungal degradation have optimal activity at different temperatures and some of them are active even at very high or low temperatures. Thus, monitoring the kinetics for different fungal strains is difficult but majority of them have good degradation capacities in a mesophilic range. The degradation rate can be enhanced by pretreatment at a high temperature which results in volatilization and decrease in the soil-water partition coefficient, as a result which dissolution of contaminants increases enhancing the rate of degradation. As far as molecular weight of PAH is concerned, a limited number of bacteria have been identified that can grow in pure cultures on PAHs with five or more aromatic rings (high molecular weight (HMW) PAHs) because the high retention of these compounds by the solid soil phase results in very low masstransfer rates of HMW-PAHs to the bacterial cells to match the basic metabolic requirements cells. Thus, the degradation rate of HMW-PAHs is slow [123]. An important factor for the PAH-degradation activity of bacteria is the pH of soil. The shift of the pH from 5.2 to 7.0 can significantly enhance the rate of PAH degradation by strain BA 2 [124]. Neutralization of soil is generally favorable for the degradation of mineral oil components by bacteria [125]. However, a pH of 5.2 should not lead to total inhibition of activity. Maximum PAH oxidation rates and optimum specific bacterial growth are obtained near pH 7.0 and 30 °C [126].

8. PAHs removal by composting, wetlands and phytoremediation

There are several microorganisms which can degrade a variety of contaminants and even the supplements. It has been observed that the addition of straw, compost, manure, etc. helps to enhance degradation by improving soil texture, oxygen transfer, and providing energy to the microbial population. Wischmann and Steinhart [127] reported that in unamended soil, only aromatics with up to three fused benzene rings were degraded, whereas soil supplementation with compost helped to enhance elimination of all compounds monitored. Substantial residues after 15 weeks were only found for benzo(a)anthracene, chrysene, and benzo(a)pyrene, with 11%, 19%, and 54% respectively. Accumulation of ketonic and guinonic degradation products such as 9-fluorenone, anthracene-9,10-dione, 2-methylanthracene-9,10-dione, and benz(a)anthracene-7,12-dione was observed in unamended soil material. In mixtures with compost, shortterm concentration maxima of such products correlated well with enhanced contaminant elimination. They concluded that supplementation of contaminated soils with compost materials can enhance biodegradation without long-term accumulation of extractable polar and more available intermediates. Wong et al. [128] studied the amendment of pig manure with soil spiked with PAHs. The increase in pig manure amendment can enhance the amount of soluble organic carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus which in turn increases the number of thermophilic, mesophilic and PAHdegrading bacteria in early stage of composting. Amendment of pig manure is beneficial to PAH removal during composting and removal efficiency increased up to 90%. Pig manure application at a dose of 25% is reported to have maximum removal of phenanthrene and anthracene. The 3-ring PAHs can be reduced during composting and maximum degradation takes place in first 3 weeks with a removal rate up to 95%, whereas 4-ring PAHs are degraded at a much slower rate with a reduction of 90% after 5 weeks of composting. The slow degradation rate might be due to high molecular weight and organic carbon partition coefficient [129]. Furthermore, significant degradation of pyrene occurs after most of the 3-ring PAHs have been removed [130].

Phytoremediation is defined as the use of green plants to remove pollutants from the environment to render them harmless. Plants can take the pollutants up and accumulate them in roots of foliage. It is an *in situ*, solar energy regulated technique, which minimises environmental disturbance and reduces costs [131]. Moreover, it particularly suits to the treatment of large areas of surface contamination, when other methods may not be as effective. Apart from it, large number of microorganisms is associated with rhizosphere which results in microbial degradation and co-metabolism [131]. Several species of grass such as Agropyron smithii, Bouteloua gracilis, Cyanodon dactylon, Elymus Canadensis, Festuca arundinacea, Festuca rubra, Melilotus officinalis, etc. are also known to degrade PAHs [132,133]. Results of an investigation indicated that grasses and legumes enhance the removal of PAHs from contaminated soils by. The plants included the legume alfalfa and three grasses: tall fescue, sudangrass, and switchgrass. Pyrene and anthracene were used as PAH contaminants. Planted soils had significantly lower concentrations of the PAHs than the unplanted soils, with 30-40% more degradation in the planted soils [134]. A mix of eight prairie grasses was studied in sandy loam soils to determine the degradation of four PAHs (benzo[*a*]pyrene, benzo[*a*]anthracene, dibenzo[*a*,*h*]anthracene, and chrysene) stimulated by plant growth. The grasses included big bluestem, little bluestem, Indiangrass, switchgrass, Canada wild-rye, side oats grama, blue grama, and western wheatgrass. PAH disappearance was consistently greater in planted units compared to unplanted controls, indicating that phytoremediation enhanced the removal of these compounds from contaminated soil. The biodegradation was greatest for benzo[a]anthracene followed by chrysene, benzo[*a*]pyrene, and finally dibenzo[*a*,*h*]anthracene. This ranking correlated with the water solubility of the PAH compounds; i.e., the more water-soluble the compound the greater its disappearance from the soil [135]. Soil planted with ryegrass was observed to lose a greater amount of a mixture of hydrocarbons than soil that was unplanted. The hydrocarbon mixture included *n*-alkanes (C10, C14–C18, C22, C24), as well as pristane, hexadecane, phenanthrene, anthracene, fluoranthene, and pyrene. After 22 weeks, the initial extractable hydrocarbon concentration of 4330 mg total hydrocarbon per kg soil decreased to less than 120 mg per kg soil (97% reduction) in planted soils, but to only 790 mg per kg soil (82% reduction) in unplanted soil. Larger microbial numbers and activity in the planted versus unplanted soil led the authors to conclude that plant roots enhanced biodegradation of the hydrocarbons by stimulating the soil microbes [136]. Another indirect role that plants play in the degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons is the release of enzymes from roots. These enzymes are capable of transforming organic contaminants by catalyzing chemical reactions in soil. Ref. [137] identified plant enzymes as the causative agents in the transformation of contaminants mixed with sediment and soil. The identified enzyme systems included dehalogenase, nitroreductase, peroxidase, and laccase. These findings suggest that plant enzymes may have significant spatial effects extending beyond the plant itself and temporal effects continuing after the plant has died [138]. The phytoremediation potential of two cold-hardy plants, Arctared red fescue and annual ryegrass, planted together in soil contaminated with either crude oil or diesel has also been examined [139]. Results indicated that contaminated soils planted with the two species had significantly lower concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbon (TPH) compared to unplanted controls. The initial crude oil concentration for planted treatments and unplanted controls was approximately 6200 mg TPH per kg soil, while the initial diesel concentration was approximately 8350 mg TPH per kg. After 640 days, crude oil contaminated soil planted with both species had 1400 mg TPH per kg soil (77% reduction), while the unplanted control contained 2500 mg TPH per kg soil (60% reduction). Likewise, diesel-contaminated soil planted with both species had 700 mg TPH per kg soil (92% reduction) after 640 days compared to 2200 mg TPH per kg soil (74% reduction) for the unplanted control. Rasmussen and Olsen [140] studied the efficiency of orchard grass (Dactylis glomerata) towards PAH-removal. The study reported that a soil/sand mixture vegetated with orchard grass exhibited high treatment efficiency with an input from the microbial catabolic degradation by plant exudates.

Wetlands, too, have found an application in PAH removal from wastewater. Specific macrophytes, microflora and microfauna are the characteristic feature of wetlands. The intensive biological activities in such an ecosystem lead to a high rate of autotrophic and heterotrophic processes. Aquatic weeds Typha spp. and Scirpus lacustris have been used in horizontal-vertical macrophyte based wetlands to treat phenanthrene [141]. The removal of phenanthrene is found to be greater than 99.9%. During the degradation of phenanthrene, 1-hydroxy-2-napthoic acid (HNA) has been identified as an initial conversion product. HNA is a naphthalene derivative and originates from phenanthrene. The occurrence of HNA as an intermediate metabolite in phenanthrene degradation indicates the presence of bacterial microflora. Pilot-scale wetlands have been used for the treatment of PAH-contaminated water [142], particularly fluoranthene, and the possible role of fungi in these ecosystems has been investigated. Giraud et al. isolated 40 fungal species from a contaminated wetland and a control wetland [142]. They reported that fluoranthene was degraded efficiently by 33 species while only 2 species were able to remove anthracene over 70%. The most frequently isolated species were Absidia cylindrospora, Mucor hiemalis, Aspergillus fumigatus, Cladosporium cladosporoides, Fusarium solani, and Trichoderma viride. No PAHs were detected when analyzing the effluent water of the constructed wetland. An analysis of microbial population showed an increase in fungal population in the contaminated system when



Fig. 5. Proposed pathway for microbial catabolism of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons [158].

compared to a control pilot wetland. Most of the fungi isolated from the wetland degraded PAH efficiently under lab conditions too. Some of the fungal species were reported to have inducible degradative capacities, since their ability to degrade the PAH increased with the increase in degree of contamination. The studies till date suggest that phytoremediation is an emergent and novel technique for contaminant removal and can be adopted in combination with microorganisms to maximize the rate of removal. Finally, phytoremediation may be applied with relative ease using existing agricultural practices at contaminated sites [143].

9. Microbial genetic adaptations

The biodegradation of PAH has been extensively studied and many microbial strains have been isolated for their ability to metabolise PAH with varying degradation rates. Pre-exposure of a microbial community to hydrocarbons, either from anthropogenic sources or from natural sources is important in determining the rate of PAH degradation. This phenomenon, which results in an increase in the hydrocarbon-oxidizing potential of the community on pre-exposure to high doses of contaminant, is known as adaptation. Several studies have reported adaptation and increase in degradation rate on PAH. Caparello and LaRock [144] studied mineralization of hexadecane and degradation of n-alkane mixtures by bacteria in several surface water and sand samples and concluded that areas with greater hydrocarbon burdens had higher hydrocarbon-oxidizing activity. Sayler et al. [145] showed that exposure of freshwater sediments to a synthetic oil accelerated the rate of polyaromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) mineralization. Induction and depression of enzymes, genetic changes, and selective enrichment have been defined as three mechanisms for adaptation of microbial communities to chemical contaminants [125]. The primary genetic mechanism for the adaptation of the microbial community is the amplification of genes which are involved in the metabolism of the chemical contaminant by selective enrichment and gene transfer [146]. Monitoring of adaptation to hydrocar-

bons has been made possible by the development of DNA probes specific for the genes encoding hydrocarbon-catabolic pathways. Colony hybridization technique has shown a correlation between the enhanced rates of PAH mineralization in oil-contaminated sediments and an increase in the number of colonies containing DNA sequences which hybridized to TOL (toluate oxidation) and NAH (naphthalene oxidation) plasmid probes [147]. The catabolic pathway in Pseudomonas putida G7 states that the first enzyme is a dioxygenase, which converts the aromatic hydrocarbon to the cis-dihydrodiol. The dioxygenases responsible for the aerobic oxidation of lower molecular weight aromatic hydrocarbons have many similarities, suggesting that they have a common evolutionary origin [148,149]. Genes encoding the dioxygenases of such compounds have been cloned and sequenced, such as those belonging to the TOL and NAH families [150,151]. On the other hand, there is little information about bacterial genes encoding proteins for the degradation of higher molecular weight PAH, including phenanthrene, anthracene, pyrene and fluoranthene. The highly homologous naphthalene degradation genes of the respective nah, pah, ndo and dox operons in some soil pseudomonads are also involved in transformation of phenanthrene and anthracene [151-153]. The cloned PAH catabolizing genes from non-pseudomonads is reported in Comamonas testosteroni strains that have the ability to degrade naphthalene, phenanthrene, and anthracene [154].

Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) and DNA hybridization have also proved useful in detection of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon degradation genes in different soil bacteria [155]. Different strains of Pseudomonas, Mycobacterium, Gordona, Sphingomonas, Rhodococcus and Xanthomonas which degrade polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) have been characterized for genes encoding degradation enzymes for PAH. Genomic DNA from these strains was hybridized with a fragment of *ndoB*, coding for the large iron sulfur protein of the naphthalene dioxygenase from *Pseudomonas putida*. A group of seven naphthalene-degrading Pseudomonas strains showed strong hybridization with the ndoB probe, and five Gordona, Mycobacterium, Rhodococcus and Pseudomonas strains able to degrade higher molecular weight PAH showed weaker hybridization signals [155]. This suggests a molecular relationship between genes coding for PAH catabolism in various PAH-degrading bacterial taxa, which could be used to evaluate the PAH-degradation potential of mixed populations. The expansion of the DNA probe method to the detection of genes encoding the catabolism of other classes of hydrocarbons, detection of specific RNAs, and recombinant DNA technology can help develop bacterial and fungal strains with improved capability for hydrocarbon metabolism and suitability as seed organisms for the metabolism of PAHs.

10. Conclusion

Bioremediation is the tool to transform the compounds to less hazardous/non-hazardous forms with less input of chemicals, energy, and time. It is an approach to degrade/remove pollutants in an eco-friendly manner. PAH-contaminated sites can be remediated using the microorganisms-algae, bacteria, and fungi individually or in combination [158] (Fig. 5). The bioremediation of a pollutant and the rate at which it is achieved depends on the environmental conditions, number and type of the microorganisms, nature and chemical structure of the chemical compound being degraded. Thus, to devise a bioremediation system, several factors are responsible which need to be addressed and explored. There are a number of bacterial species isolated from different environments and capable of degrading PAHs. Acclimatization of these species can serve as a key for enhanced degradation. The induction of degradation capacity by exposing the microbes to higher levels of pollutants may, at times, result in genetic adaptability/changes responsible for higher rate of removal. The major group of fungi responsible for PAH-degradation is of white rot fungi. They have a battery of enzymes lignin peroxidase and manganese peroxidase which converts PAH to less harmful and simpler forms. Many algal species have got the property to biotransform the pollutants to less hazardous ones. Apart from it, some plants can also degrade the PAHs. A universal, consistent, and efficient system can be devised by simultaneous application of all the microorganisms to get synergistically enhanced rates. Pretreatment of the medium or addition of supplements should be promoted to increase the availability and to regulate the degradation kinetics. Monitoring and regulation of the environmental factors in specific areas can help the plants/microorganisms sustain even in adverse environments. An integrated approach of physical, chemical, and biological degradation should be adopted to treat/remediate the contaminated sites in an ecologically favorable process. The emission/disposal of PAH containing waste should be reduced/avoided and its reuse and recovery should be promoted. Control at the source can significantly reduce harmful levels in environment and the strategies involved in mitigation and remediation.

References

- [1] E. Clar, Polycyclic Hydrocarbons, Academic Press, 1964.
- [2] P. Patnaik, A Comprehensive Guide to the Properties of Hazardous Chemical Substances, 2nd ed., John Wiley & Sons Publishers, 1999.
- [3] C.P. Kaushik, A.K. Haritash, Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and environmental health, Our Earth 3 (3) (2006) 1–7.
- [4] International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) Benzo[a]pyrene, Polynuclear Aromatic Compounds, Part 1, Chemical, Environmental and Experimental Data, vol. 32, Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans, 1983, pp. 211–224.
- [5] A.K. Haritash, C.P. Kaushik, Seasonal and spatial occurrence and distribution of respirable particulate-bound atmospheric polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in Hisar city and their potential health-risks, Asian J. Water Environ. Pollut., in press.
- [6] S.R. Wild, K.C. Jones, Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons in the United Kingdom environment: a preliminary source inventory and budget, Environ. Pollut. 88 (1) (1995) 91–108.

- [7] M.A. Providenti, H. Lee, J.T. Trevors, Selected factors limiting the microbial degradation of recalcitrant compounds, J. Ind. Microbiol. 12 (1993) 379–395.
- [8] O.P. Ward, A. Singh, J. Van Hamme, Acclerated biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbon waste, J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 30 (2003) 260–270.
- [9] J.A. Bumpus, Biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by *Phane-rochaete chrysosporium*, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 61 (1989) 2631–2635.
- [10] S.Y. Yuan, J.S. Chang, J.H. Yen, B.V. Chang, Biodegradation of phenanthrene in river sediment, Chemosphere 43 (2001) 273–278.
- [11] M. Dua, A. Singh, N. Sethunathan, A.K. Johri, Biotechnology and bioremediation: successes and limitations, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 59 (2002) 143–152.
- [12] A. Singh, O.P. Ward, Biodegradation and Bioremediation: Series: Soil Biology, vol. 2, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2004.
- [13] B. Ye, M.A. Siddiqi, A.E. Maccubbin, S. Kumar, H.C. Sikka, Degradation of polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons by *Sphingomonas paucimobilis*, Environ. Sci. Technol. 30 (1996) 136–142.
- [14] M.D. Aitken, W.T. Stringfellow, R.D. Nagel, C. Kazunga, S.H. Chen, Characteristics of phenanthrene-degrading bacteria isolated from soils contaminated with polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, Can. J. Microbiol. 44 (1998) 743–752.
- [15] U. Walter, M. Beyer, J. Klein, H.J. Rehm, Degradation of pyrene by Rhodococcus sp. UW1, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 34 (1991) 671–676.
- [16] J. Schneider, R. Grosser, K. Jayasimhulu, W. Xue, D. Warshawsky, Degradation of pyrene, benz[a]anthracene and benzo[a]pyrene by Mycobacterium sp. strain RJGII-135, isolated from a former coal gasification site, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 62 (1996) 13–19.
- [17] D. Trzesicka-Mlynarz, O.P. Ward, Degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) by a mixed culture and its component pure cultures, obtained from PAH-contaminated soil, Can. J. Microbiol. 41 (1995) 470–476.
- [18] M.A. Heitkamp, W. Franklin, C.E. Cerniglia, Microbial metabolism of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons: isolation and characterization of a Pyrene-degrading bacterium, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 54 (1988) 2549–2555.
- [19] M.C. Romero, M.C. Cazau, S. Giorgieri, A.M. Arambarri, Phenanthrene degradation by microorganisms isolated from a contaminated stream, Environ. Pollut. 101 (1998) 355–359.
- [20] K. Rehmann, H.P. Noll, C.E.W. Steiberg, A.A. Kettrup, Pyrene degradation by Mycobacterium sp. Strain KR2, Chemosphere 36 (14) (1998) 2977–2992.
- [21] S.Y. Yuan, L.C. Shiung, B.V. Chang, Biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by inoculated microorganisms in soil, Bull. Environ. Conatm. Toxicol. 69 (2002) 66–73.
- [22] D. Dean-Ross, J. Moody, C.E. Cerniglia, Utilisation of mixtures of Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by bacteria isolated from contaminated sediment, FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 41 (2002) 1–7.
- [23] N.F.Y. Tam, C.L. Guo, W.Y. Yau, Y.S. Wong, Preliminary study on biodegradation of phenanthrene by bacteria isolated from mangrove sediments in Hong-Kong, Mar. Poll. Bull. 42 (2002) 316–324.
- [24] L.L. Daane, I. Harjono, G.J. Zylstra, M.M. Haggblom, Isolation and characterization of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons-degrading bacteria associated with the rhizosphere of salt marsh plants, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67 (6) (2001) 2683–2691.
- [25] L.L. Daane, I. Harjono, S.M. Barns, L.A. Launen, N.J. Palleroni, M.M. Haggblom, PAH-degradation by Paenibacillus spp. and description of *Paenibacillus naphthalenovorans* sp. nov., a naphthalene degrading bacterium from the rhizosphere of salt marsh plants, Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 52 (2002)131–139.
- [26] G.J. Verrhiest, B. Clement, B. Volat, B. Montuelle, Y. Perrodin, Interactions between a polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon mixture and microbial communities in a natural freshwater sediment, Chemosphere 46 (2002) 187–196.
- [27] T.J. Cutright, Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon biodegradation and kinetics using *Cunninghamella echinulata* var. elegans, Int. Biodet. Biodeg. 35 (4)(1995) 397–408.
- [28] T. Cajthaml, V. Pacakova, V. Sasek, Microbial degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, Chem. Listy. 95 (2001) 404.
- [29] M. Hofrichter, K. Schneibner, I. Schneegab, W. Fritzche, Enzymatic combustion of aromatic and aliphatic compounds by manganese peroxidase from *Nematoloma frowardii*, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64 (1998) 399–404.
- [30] B.R.M. Vyas, S. Bakowski, V. Sasek, M. Matucha, Degradation of anthracene by selected white rot fungi, FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 14 (1994) 65–70.
- [31] A.R. Clemente, T.A. Anazawa, L.R. Durrant, Biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by soil fungi, Braz. J. Microbiol. 32 (2001)255–261.
- [32] I.S. Silva, M. Grossman, L.R. Durrant, Degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (2–7 rings) under microaerobic and very-low-oxygen conditions by soil fungi, Int. Biodet. Biodeg. 63 (2) (2009) 224–229.
- [33] T. Cajthaml, M. Moder, P. Kacer, V. Sasek, P. Popp, Study of fungal degradation products of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons using gas chromatography with ion trap mass spectrometry detection, J. Chromatogr. A 974 (2002)213–222.
- [34] D. Boyle, C. Wiesner, A. Richardson, Factors affecting the degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in soil by white rot fungi, Soil Biol. Biochem. 30 (7) (1998) 873–882.
- [35] F.K. Higson, Degradation of xenobiotics by white rot fungi, Rev. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 122 (1998) 111–152.
- [36] J.A. Field, E. DeJong, G.F. Costa, J.A.M. DeBont, Biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by new isolates for white rot fungi, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 58 (1992) 2219–2226.
- [37] C. Kennes, J.M. Lema, degradation of major compounds of creosotes (PAH and Phenols) by Phanerochaete chrysosporium, Biotechnol. Lett. 16 (1994) 759–764.
- [38] B.E. Anderson, T. Henryson, Accumulation and degradation of dead-end metabolites during treatment of soil with polycyclic aromatic with five

strains of white rot fungi, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 46 (1996) 647-652.

- [39] T. Eggen, A. Majcherzyk, Removal of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) in contaminated soil by white rot fungus *Pleurotus ostreatus*, Int. Biodet. Biodeg. 41 (1998) 111–117.
- [40] J.G. Leahy, R.R. Colwell, Microbial degradation of hydrocarbons in the environment, Microbiol. Rev. 54 (1990) 305–315.
- [41] Berdicevsky, L. Duek, D. Merzbach, S. Yannai, Susceptibility of different yeast species to environmental toxic metals, Environ. Pollut. 80 (1993) 41–44.
- [42] C.E. Cerniglia, D.T. Gibson, C.V. Baalen, Algal oxidation of aromatic hydrocarbons: formation of 1-Naphthol from naphthalene by Agmenellum quadruplicatum strain PR-6, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 88 (1979) 50–58.
- [43] C.E. Cerniglia, C.V. Baalen, D.T. Gibson, Metabolism of naphthalene by cyanobacterium Oscillatoria sp. Strain JCM, J. Gen. Microbiol. 116 (1980) 485-494.
- [44] C.E. Cerniglia, D.T. Gibson, C.V. Baalen, Oxidation of naphthalene by cyanobacteria and microalgae, J. Gen. Microbiol. 116 (1980) 495–500.
- [45] M.L. Narro, C.E. Cerniglia, C.V. Baalen, D.T. Gibson, Evidence of NIH shift in naphthalene oxidation by the marine cyanobacterium, Oscillatoria species strain JCM, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 58 (1992) 1360–1363.
- [46] M.L. Narro, C.E. Cerniglia, C.V. Baalen, D.T. Gibson, Metabolism of phenanthrene by the marine cyanobacterium Agmenellum quadruplicatum strain PR-6, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 58 (1992) 1351–1359.
- [47] D. Warshawsky, T. Cody, M. Radike, R. Reilman, B. Schumann, K. LaDow, J. Schneider, Biotransformation of Benzo[a]pyrene and other polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and heterocyclic analogs by several green algae and other algal species under gold and white light, Chemico-Biol. Interact. 97 (1995) 131–148.
- [48] D. Warshawsky, M. Radike, K. Jayasimhulu, T. Cody, Metabolism of Benzo[a]pyrene by a dioxygenase system of freshwater green alga *Selenastrum capricornutum*, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 152 (1988) 540–544.
- [49] X. Borde, B. Guieysse, O. Delgado, R. Munoz, R. Hatti-Kaul, C. Nugier-Chauvin, H. Patin, B. Mattiasson, Synergistic relationships in algal-bacterial microcosms for the treatment of aromatic pollutants, Bioresour. Technol. 86 (3) (2003) 293–300.
- [50] A.P. Lei, Z.L. Hu, Y.S. Wong, N.F.Y. Tam, Removal of fluoranthene and pyrene by different microalgal species, Bioresour. Technol. 98 (2) (2007) 273–280.
- [51] R. Ueno, S. Wada, N. Ureno, Repeated batch culture of hydrocarbon-degrading, micro-algal strain *Prototheca zopfii* RND16 immobilized in polyurethane foam, Can. J. Microbiol. 54 (2008) 66–70.
- [52] R. Ueno, N. Ureno, S. Wada, Synergistic effect of cell immobilization in polyurethane foam and use of thermotolerant strain on mixed hydrocarbon substrate by *Prototheca zopfii*, Fish. Sci. 72 (2006) 1027–1033.
- [53] Y.-W. Hong, D.-X. Yuan, Q.-M. Lin, T.-L. Yang, Accumulation and biodegradation of phenanthrene and fluoranthene by the algae enriched from a mangrove aquatic ecosystem, Mar. Poll. Bull. 56 (8) (2008) 1400–1405.
- [54] A.S. Ball, A.S. Jackson, The recovery of lignocellulose-degradin enzymes from spent mushroom compost, Bioresour. Technol. 54 (1995) 311–314.
- [55] M. Hofrichhter, T. Vares, M. Kalsi, S. Galkin, K. Schneibner, W. Fritsche, A. Hatakka, Production of manganese peroxidase and organic acids and mineralization of 14C-labelled lignin (14C-DHP) during solid state fermentation of wheat straw with the white rot fungus *Nematoloma forwardii*, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65 (1999) 1864–1870.
- [56] B.W. Bogan, R.T. Lamar, One-electron oxidation in the degradation of creosote polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by *Phanerochaee chrysosporium*, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 61 (1995) 2631–2635.
- [57] E.L. Cavalieri, E.G. Rogan, R.W. Roth, R.K. Saugier, A. Hakam, The relation between ionization potential and horseradish peroxidase/hydrogen peroxidecatalysed binding of aromatic hydrocarbons to DNA, Chemico-Biol. Interact. 47 (1983) 87–109.
- [58] R.L. Crawford, D.L. Crawford, Bioremediation: Principles and Applications, Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- [59] A.M. Farnet, S. Criquet, S. Tagger, G. Gil, J.J. LePetit, Purification, partial characterization, and reactivity with aromatic compounds of two laccases from *Marasmius quercophilus* strain 17, Can. J. Micobiol. 46 (2000) 189–194.
- [60] S.C. Wilson, K.C. Jones, Bioremediation of soil contaminated with polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs): a review, Environ. Pollut. 81 (1993)229–249.
- [61] A.L. Juhasz, R. Naidu, Bioremediation of high molecular weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: a review of the microbial degradation of benzo[a]pyrene, Int. Biodet. Biodeg. 45 (1996) 57–88.
- [62] F. Guillen, V. Gomez-Toribio, M.J. Martinez, A.T. Martinez, Production of hydroxyl radical by the synergistic action of fungal laccase and aryl alcohol oxidase, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 383 (2000) 142–147.
- [63] M.J.J. Kotterman, E.H. Vis, J.A. Field, Successive mineralization and detoxification of Benzo[a]pyrene by the white rot fungus Bjerkandera sp. Strain BOS55 and indigenous microflora, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64 (1998)2853–2858.
- [64] A.E.H. Machado, A.M. Furuyama, S.Z. Falone, R. Ruggiero, P.D. daSilva, A. Castellan, Photocatalytic degradation of ligninand lignin models, using titanium dioxide: the role of hydroxyl radical, Chemosphere 40 (2000) 115–124.
- [65] A. Schutzendubel, A. Majcherczyk, C. Johannes, A. Huttermann, Degradation of Fluorene, anthracene, phenanthrene, fluoranthene, and pyrene lacks connection to the production of extracellular enzymes by *Pleurotus ostreatus* and *Bjerkandera adusta*, Int. Biodet. Biodeg. 43 (1999) 93–100.
- [66] A. Eggert, U. Temp, J.F. Dean, K.-E.L. Eriksson, A fungal metabolite mediates degradation of non-phenolic lignin structures and synthetic lignin by laccase, FEBS Lett. 391 (1996) 144–148.

- [67] A. Majcherczyk, C. Johannes, A. Huttermann, Oxidation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) by laccase of Trametes versicolor, Enzyme Microb. Technol. 22 (1998) 335–341.
- [68] J.D. Coates, R.T. Anderson, D.R. Lovley, Oxidation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons under sulfate-reducing conditions, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 62 (1996) 1099-1101.
- [69] J.D. Coates, R.T. Anderson, J.C. Woodward, E.J.P. Phillips, D.R. Lovley, Anaerobic hydrocarbon degradation in petroleum contaminated harbor sediments under sulfate-reducing and artificially imposed iron-reducing conditions, Environ. Sci. Tech. 30 (1996) 2764–2769.
- [70] S. Harayama, M. Kok, E.L. Neidle, Functional and evolutionary relationships among diverse oxygenases, Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 46 (1992) 565–601.
- [71] T. Bregnard, P. Hoehener, A. Haener, J. Zeyer, Degradation of weathered diesel fuel by microorganisms from a contaminated aquifer in aerobic and anaerobic microcosms, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 15 (1996) 299–307.
- [72] A. Lagenhoff, A. Zehnder, G. Schraa, Behaviour of toluene, benzene and naphthalene under anaerobic conditions in sediment column, Biodegradation 7 (1996) 267–274.
- [73] R. Ambrosoli, L. Petruzzelli, J.L. Minati, F.A. Marsan, Anaerobic PAH degradation in soil by a mixed bacterial consortium under denitrifying conditions, Chemosphere 60 (9) (2005) 1231–1236.
- [74] J.-C. Tsai, M. Kumar, J.-G. Lin, Anaerobic biotransformation of fluorene and phenanthrene by sulfate-reducing bacteria and identification of biotransformation pathway, J. Hazard. Mater. 164 (2–3) (2009) 847–855.
- [75] R.T. Anderson, D.R. Lovely, Naphthalene and benzene degradation under Fe(III)-reducing conditions in petroleum contaminated aquifers, Biorem. J. 3 (1999) 121–135.
- [76] J.D. Coates, J. Woodward, J. Allen, P. Philp, D.R. Lovely, Anaerobic degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and alkanes in petroleum-contaminated marine harbor sediments, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 63 (1997) 3589-3593.
- [77] B.V. Chang, J.S. Chang, S.Y. Yuan, Anaerobic degradation of phenanthrene in river sediment under nitrate-reducing conditions, Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 67 (2001) 898–905.
- [78] B.V. Chang, L.C. Shiung, S.Y. Yuan, Anaerobic biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon in soil, Chemosphere 48 (2002) 717–724.
- [79] B.V. Chang, I. Chang, S. Yuan, Anaeobic degradation of phenanthrene and pyrene in mangrove sediment, Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 80 (2) (2008) 145–149.
- [80] R. Schmitt, H.R. Langguth, W. Puttmann, H.P. Rohns, P. Eckert, J. Schubert, Biodegradation of aromatic hydrocarbons under anoxic conditions in a shallow sand and gravel aquifer of the lower Rhine valley, Germany, Org. Geochem. 25 (1) (1996) 41–50.
- [81] L.A. Hayes, K.P. Nevin, D.R. Lovley, Role of prior exposure on anaerobic degradation of naphthalene and phenanthrene in marine harbor sediments, Org. Geochem. 30 (1999) 937–945.
- [82] D.L. McNally, J.R. Mihelcic, D.R. Lueking, Biodegradation of three- and four-ring polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons under aerobic and denitrifying conditions, Environ. Sci. Technol. 32 (1998) 2633–2639.
- [83] K.J. Rockne, J.C. Chee-Sanford, R.A. Sanford, B.P. Hedlund, J.T. Staley, S.E. Strand, Anaerobic naphthalene degradation by microbial pure cultures under nitratereducing conditions, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66 (2000) 1595–1601.
- [84] A. Galushko, D. Minz, B. Schink, F. Widdel, Anaerobic degradation of naphthalene by pure culture of novel type of marine sulfate-reducing bacterium, Environ. Microbiol. 1 (1999) 1–23.
- [85] H.F. Ridgeway, J. Safarik, D. Phipps, P. Carl, D. Clark, Identification and catabolic activity of well-derived gasoline degrading bacteria and a contaminated aquifer, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 56 (1990) 3565–3575.
- [86] G. Harms, K. Zengler, R. Rabus, F. Aeckerberg, D. Minz, R. Rosello-Mora, F. Widdel, Anaerobic oxidation of o-xylene and m-xylene and homologous alkylbenzenes by new types of sulfate-reducing bacteria, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65 (1999) 999–1004.
- [87] G. Fuchs, M.E.S. Mohamed, U. Altenschmidt, J. Koch, A. Lack, R. Brackmann, C. Lochmeyer, B. Oswald, Biochemistry of anaerobic biodegradation of aromatic compounds, in: C. Ratledge (Ed.), Biochemistry of Microbial Degradation, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1994, pp. 513–553.
- [88] A. Schink, A. Brune, S. Schnell, Anaerobic degradation of aromatic compounds, in: G. Winkelmann (Ed.), Microbial Degradation of Natural Products, VCH-Verlag, Weinheim, 1992, pp. 219–242.
- [89] W.C. Evans, Biochemistry of the bacterial catabolism of aromatic compounds in anaerobic environments, Nature 270 (1977) 17–22.
- [90] B.W. Bogan, W.R. Sullivan, Physicochemical soil parameters affecting sequestration and mycobacterial biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in soil, Chemosphere 52 (2003) 1717–1726.
- [91] W.J. Weber Jr., W. Huang, A distributed reactivity model for sorption by soils and sediments. 4. Intraparticle heterogeneity and phase distribution relationships under non-equillibrium conditions, Environ. Sci. Technol. 30 (1996) 881–888.
- [92] A. Xing, J.J. Pignatello, Dual-mode sorption of low polarity compounds in glassy poly(vinyl chloride) and soil organic matter, Environ. Sci. Technol. 31 (1997) 792–799.
- [93] K. Nam, J.Y. Kim, Role of loosely bound humic substances and humin in bioavailability of phenanthrene aged in soil, Environ. Pollut. 118 (2002) 427–433.
- [94] K. Nam, M. Alexander, Role of nanoporosity and hydrophobicity in sequestration and bioavailability: tests with model solids, Environ. Sci. Technol. 32 (1998) 71–74.

- [95] N. Chung, M. Alexander, Effect of soil properties on bioavailability and extractability of phenanthrene and atrazine sequestered in soil, Chemosphere 48 (2002) 109–115.
- [96] J.C. White, M. Hunter, K. Nam, J.J. Pignatello, M. Alexander, Correlation between biological and physical availabilities of phenanthrene in soils and humin in aging experiments, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 18 (1999) 1720–1727.
- [97] A.A. Khan, S.J. Kim, D.D. Paine, C.E. Cerniglia, classification of a polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-metabolising bacterium, Mycobacterium sp. Nov, Intl. J. System. Evol. Microbiol. 52 (2002) 1997–2002.
- [98] S.L. McClellan, D. Warshawsky, J.R. Shann, The effect of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons on the degradation of benzo[a]pyrene by Mycobacterium sp. Strain RJGII-135, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 21 (2002) 253–259.
- [99] B.W. Bogan, L.M. Lahner, W.R. Sullivan, J.R. Paterek, Degradation of polycyclic aromatic and straight-chain aliphatic hydrocarbons by a strain of *Mycobacterium austroafricanum*, J. Appl. Microbiol. 94 (2003) 230–239.
- [100] F. Luers, Th. E.M.T. Hulscher, Temperature effect of the partitioning of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons between natural organic matter and water, Chemosphere 33 (1996) 643–657.
- [101] Y. He, A. Yediler, T. Sun, A. Kettrup, Adsorption of fluoranthene on soil and lava: effects of the organic carbon contents of adsorbents and temperature, Chemosphere 30 (1995) 141–150.
- [102] S.C. Wu, P.M. Gschwend, Sorption kinetics of hydrophobic organic compounds to natural sediments and soil, Environ. Sci. Technol. 20 (1986)717-725.
- [103] J. Farell, M. Reinhard, Desorption of halogenated organics from model solids, sediments, and soil under unsaturated conditions. 2. Kinetics, Environ. Sci. Technol. 28 (1994) 63–72.
- [104] L.T.C. Bonten, T.C. Grotenhuis, W.H. Rulkens, Enhancement of PAHbiodegradation in soil by physicochemical treatment, Chemosphere 38 (15) (1999) 3627–3636.
- [105] P. Nkedi-Kizza, P.S.C. Rao, A.G. Hornsby, Influence of organic co-solvents on sorption of hydrophobic organic chemicals by soils, Environ. Sci. Technol. 19 (1985) 975–979.
- [106] K.R. Morris, R. Abramowitz, R. Pinal, D. Yalkowsky, S.H. Yalkowsky, Solubility of aromatic pollutants in mixed solvents, Chemosphere 17 (1988)285–298.
- [107] E.R. Noordkamp, J.T.C. Grotenhuis, W.H. Rulkens, Selection of an efficient extraction method for the determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in contaminated soil and sediment, Chemosphere 35 (1997) 1907–1917.
- [108] S. Vollmouth, R. Niessner, Degradation of PCDD, PCDF, PAH, PCB and chlorinated phenols during the destruction-treatment of landfill seepage water in laboratory model reactor (UV, Ozone, and UV/Ozone), Chemosphere 30 (12) (1995) 2317–2331.
- [109] J.G. Meuller, P.J. Chapman, P.H. Pritchard, Action of fluoranthene-utilizing community on polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon components of creosote, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 55 (1989) 3085–3090.
- [110] W.L. Straube, J. Jones-Meehan, P.H. Pritchard, W.R. Jones, Bench-scale optimization of bioaugmentation strategies for treatment of soils contaminated with high molecular weight polyaromatic hydrocarbons, Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 27 (1999) 27–37.
- [111] K. Lee, J.-W. Park, I.-S. Ahn, Effect of additional carbon source on naphthalene biodegradation by *Pseudomonas putida* G7, J. Hazard. Mater. B105 (2003) 157-167.
- [112] T. Eggen, Application of fungal substrate from commercial mushroom production-*Pleurotus ostreatus* for bioremediation of creosote contaminated soil, Int. Biodet. Biodeg. 44 (1999) 117–126.
- [113] M.R. Trejo-Hernandez, A. Lopez-Munguia, R.Q. Ramirez, Residual compost of *Agaricus bisporus* as a source of crude laccase for enzymatic oxidation of phenolic compounds, Process Biochem. 36 (2001) 635–639.
- [114] K.L. Lau, Y.Y. Tsang, S.W. Chiu, Use of spent mushroom compost to bioremediate PAH-contaminated samples, Chemosphere 52 (2003) 1539–1546.
- [115] T.F. Guerin, Bioremediation of phenols and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in creosote contaminated soil using ex-situ land treatment, J. Hazard. Mater. B65 (1999) 305–315.
- [116] M. Bouchez, D. Blanchet, J.P. Vandecasteele, Degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by pure starins and by defined strain associations: inhibition phenomena and co-metabolism, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 43 (1995) 156–164.
- [117] W.T. Stringfellow, M.D. Aitken, competitive metabolism of naphthalene, methylnphthalenes, and fluorene by phenanthrene-degrading Pseudomonas, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 61 (1995) 357–362.
- [118] D.L. McNally, J.R. Mihelcic, D.R. Lueking, Biodegradation of mixtures of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons under aerobic and nitrate-reducing conditions, Chemosphere 38 (6) (1999) 13131–21321.
- [119] L.M. Carmichael, F.K. Pfaender, The effect of inorganic and organic supplements on the microbial degradation of phenanthrene and pyrene in soils, Biodegradation 8 (1997) 1–13.
- [120] C.E. Cerniglia, Fungal metabolism of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: past, present and future applications in bioremediation, J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 19 (1997) 324–333.
- [121] P. Oleszczuk, S. Baran, Kinetics of PAHs losses and relationships between PAHs properties and properties of soil in sewage sludge-amended soil, Polycycl. Aromatic Compd. 25 (2005) 245–269.
- [122] K.J. Doick, E. Klingelmann, P. Burauel, K.C. Jones, K.T. Semple, Long-term fate of polychlorinated biphenyls and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in agricultural soil, Environ. Sci. Technol. 39 (2005) 3663–3670.
- [123] A.R. Johnsen, L.Y. Wick, H. Harms, Principles of microbial PAH-degradation in soil, Environ. Pollut. 133 (2005) 71–84.

- [124] M. Kastner, M. Breuer-Jammali, B. Mahro, Impact of inoculation protocols, salinity, and pH on the degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and survival of PAH-degrading bacteria introduced into soil, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64 (1) (1998) 359–362.
- [125] J.G. Leahy, R.R. Colwell, Microbial degradation of hydrocarbons in the environment, Microb. Rev. 54 (3) (1990) 305–315.
- [126] W.D. Weissenfels, M. Beyer, J. Klein, Degradation of phenanthrene, fluorene and fluoranthene by pure bacterial cultures, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 32 (4) (1990) 479–484.
- [127] H. Wischmann, H. Steinhart, The formation of PAH oxidation products in soils and soil/compost mixtures, Chemosphere 35 (8) (1997) 1681–1698.
- [128] J.W.C. Wong, C.K. Wan, M. Fang, Pig manure as a co-composting material for biodegradation of PAH-contaminated soil, Environ. Technol. 23 (2002) 15–26.
- [129] L.M. Carmichael, F.K. Pfaender, Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbon metabolism in soils: relationship to soil characteristics and preexposure, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 16 (1997) 666–675.
- [130] Wiesel, S.M. Wuebker, H.J. Rehm, Degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by an immobilized mixed bacterial culture, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 39 (1993) 110–116.
- [131] J.F. Shimp, J.C. Tracy, L.C. Davis, E. Lee, W. Huang, L.E. Erikson, J.L. Schnoor, Beneficial effects of plants in the remediation of soil and groundwater contaminated with organic materials, Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. 23(1)(1993) 41–77.
- [132] S.C. McCutcheon, J.L. Schnoor (Eds.), Phytoremediation: Transformation and Control of Contaminants, Wiley-Interscience, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey, 2003.
- [133] K.M. Christensen-Kirsh, Phytoremediation and wastewater effluent disposal: Guidelines for landscape designers and planners, Master's project, Department of Landscape Architecture, University of Oregon, 1996.
- [134] K.A. Reilley, M.K. Banks, A.P. Schwab, Organic chemicals in the environment: dissipation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the rhizosphere, J. Environ. Qual. 25 (1996) 212–219.
- [135] W. Aprill, R.C. Sims, Evaluation of the use of prairie grasses for stimulating polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon treatment in soil, Chemosphere 20 (1–2) (1990) 253–265.
- [136] T. Gunther, U. Dornberger, W. Fritsche, Effects of ryegrass on biodegradation of hydrocarbons in soil, Chemosphere 33 (2) (1996) 203–215.
- [137] J.L. Schnoor, L.A. Licht, S.C. McCutcheon, N.L. Wolfe, L.H. Carreira, Phytoremediation of organic and nutrient contaminants, Environ. Sci. Technol. 29 (7) (1995) 318–323.
- [138] S.D. Cunningham, D.W. Ow, Promises and prospects of phytoremediation, Plant Physiol. 110 (3) (1996) 715–719.
- [139] C.M. Reynolds, D.C. Wolf, Microbial based strategies for assessing rhizosphere enhanced phytoremediation, in: Proceedings of the Phytoremediation Technical Seminar, May 31–June 1, 1999, Calgary, AB, Environment Canada, Ottawa, 1999, pp. 125–135.
- [140] G. Rasmussen, R.A. Olsen, Sorption and biological removal of creosote contaminants from groundwater in soil/sand vegetated with orchard grass (*Dactylis glomerata*), Adv. Environ. Res. 8 (2004) 313–327.
- [141] T. Machate, H. Noll, H. Behrens, A. Kettrup, Degradation of phenanthrene and hydraulic characteristics in a constructed wetland, Water Res. 31 (3) (1997) 554–560.
- [142] F. Giraud, P. Guiraud, M. Kadri, G. Blake, R. Steiman, Biodegradation of anthracene and fluoranthene by fungi isolated from an experimental constructed wetland for wastewater treatment, Water Res. 35 (17) (2001) 4126–4136.
- [143] T. McIntyre, G.M. Lewis, The advancement of phytoremediation as an innovative environmental technology for stabilization, remediation, or restoration of contaminated sites in Canada: a discussion paper, J. Soil Contam. 6 (3) (1997) 227–241.
- [144] D.M. Caparello, P.A. LaRock, A radioisotope assay for the quantification of hydrocarbon biodegradation potential in environmental samples, Microb. Ecol. 2 (1975) 28–42.
- [145] G.S. Sayler, R.E. Perkins, T.W. Sherrill, B.K. Perkins, M.C. Reid, M.S. Shields, H.L. Kong, J.W. Davis, Microcosm and experimental pond evaluation of microbial community response to synthetic oil contamination in freshwater sediments, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 46 (1983) 211–219.
- [146] T. Barkay, H. Pritchard, Adaptation of aquatic microbial communities to pollutant stress, Microbiol. Sci. 5 (1988) 165–169.
- [147] G.S. Sayler, M.S. Shields, E.T. Tedford, A. Breen, S.W. Hooper, K.M. Sirotkin, J.W. Davis, Application of DNA–DNA colony hybridization to the detection of catabolic genotypes in environmental samples, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 49 (1985) 1295–1303.
- [148] S. Harayama, M. Kok, Functional and evolutionary relationships among diverse oxygenases, Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 46 (1992) 565–601.
- [149] J.R. Mason, R. Cammack, The electron-transport proteins of hydroxylating bacterial dioxygenases, Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 46 (1992) 277–305.
- [150] S. Burlage, S.W. Hooper, G.S. Sayler, The TOL (pWW0) plasmid, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 55 (1989) 1323–1328.
- [151] F. Menn, B.M. Applegate, G.S. Sayler, NAH plasmid-mediated catabolism of anthracene and phenanthrene to naphthoic acids, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 59 (1993) 1938–1942.
- [152] J. Sanseverino, B.M. Applegate, J.M.H. King, G.S. Sayler, Plasmid-mediated mineralization of naphthalene, phenanthrene and anthracene, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 59 (1993) 1931–1937.
- [153] Y. Yang, R.F. Chen, M.P. Shiaris, Metabolism of naphthalene, fluorene and phenanthrene: preliminary characterization of a cloned gene clus-

ter from Pseudomonas putida NCIB 9816, J. Bacteriol. 176 (1994) 2158-2164.

- [154] A.K. Goyal, G.J. Zylstra, Molecular cloning of novel genes for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon degradation from *Comamonas testosteroni* GZ 39, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 62 (1996) 230–236.
- [155] C. Hamann, J. Hegemann, A. Hildebrandt, Detection of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon degradation genes in different soil bacteria by polymerase chain reaction and DNA hybridization, FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 173 (1999)255–263.
- [156] Working Group on Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (WGPAH), Ambient Air Pollution by Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons: position paper, 2001 Annexes. (ec.europa.eu/environment/air/pdf/pp_pah.pdf).
- [157] D. Mackay, W.Y. Shiu, K.C. Ma, Illustrated Handbook of Physical-Chemical Properties and Environmental Fate for Organic Chemicals, Lewis Publishing, Boca Raton, FL, 1991.
- [158] C.E. Cerniglia, Biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, Biodegradation 3 (1992) 351–368.